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Bef ore the
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Washi ngton, D.C. 20554

In the Matter of )
)
AT&T Corp., )

) File No. EB-00-MD 011
Conpl ai nant, )
V. )
)
New Yor k Tel ephone Conpany, )
d/b/a Bell Atlantic - New York, )

Def endant .
MEMORANDUM OPI NI ON AND ORDER
Adopt ed: Cctober 5, 2000 Rel eased: October

6, 2000

By the Conmi ssion: Chairman Kennard and Commi ssi oner Ness
i ssuing separate statenents

l. | NTRODUCT! ON

1. In this Menorandum Opi ni on and Order, we deny the
conplaint filed pursuant to sections 208 and 271(d)(6) of the
Communi cations Act of 1934, as anended (Act),l1 by AT&T Corp
(AT&T) agai nst New York Tel ephone Conpany, d/b/a Bell Atlantic -
New York (Bell Atlantic). Pursuant to section 271(d)(3) of the
Act, this Comm ssion has previously authorized Bell Atlantic to
provi de i nterexchange services in the State of New York. Inits
conpl aint, AT&T alleges that the manner in which Bell Atlantic



mar kets the services of its long distance affiliate, Bel

Atl antic Comruni cations, Inc. (BAClI), during incomng calls from
its existing |ocal exchange custoners violates section 272 of the
Act.2 For the reasons discussed bel ow, we find that AT&T

nm sstates Bell Atlantic's obligations pursuant to section 272,
and deny AT&T's conpl aint.

[1. BACKGROUND

2. Conpl ai nant AT&T provi des interexchange (i.e., long
di stance) tel ecomruni cations services throughout the United
States. It also provides |ocal exchange tel ecomrunications
services in the State of New York and el sewhere. Defendant Bel
Atlantic is a " "Bell Operating Conpany'' (BOC) within the neaning
of section 153(4) of the Act, 3 and an " “incunbent |ocal exchange
carrier'' (ILEC) within the neaning of section 251(h)(1) of the
Act . 4

3. On Decenber 22, 1999, the Conmi ssion rel eased an order
finding that Bell Atlantic had satisfied the conditions set forth
in section 271, and that it therefore was permtted, through a
separate affiliate conplying with the requirenents of section
272, to provide in-region, interexchange services in the State of
New York.5 Pursuant to section 272(g),6 which authorizes BOCs
t hat have been granted section 271 authority to market jointly
their own services and the services of their section 272 |ong
di stance affiliate, Bell Atlantic began marketing the services of
BACI on January 5, 2000.7 This conplaint relates to those joint
mar keting efforts in the State of New York.

4, When residential |ocal exchange custoners of Bel
Atlantic call Bell Atlantic to request an additional |ine, Bel
Atl antic generally takes the opportunity to market BACI's
i nt erexchange service. Wth certain exceptions not relevant
here,8 Bell Atlantic does not require that its sales
representatives, in marketing BAClI's services during such calls:
(a) informthe custoner that they have a choice of |ong distance
carrier; or (b) offer to read a list of carriers who provide |ong
di stance service in that custoner's area.9 |In addition, Bel
Atlantic allows its sales representatives, on receiving these
custoners' verbal permission, to use information regarding the
custoner's presubscribed i nterexchange carrier (PIC) for the
existing line(s) to market BACI's services for the additiona
and, sonetines, existing line(s).10 Bell Atlantic does not
provide its custoners' PIC information to AT&T or other non-
affiliated carriers in such instances. 11

5. AT&T filed its conplaint in this action on July 10,
2000. In its first claim AT&T asserts that Bell Atlantic's
mar keti ng of BAClI's services to Bell Atlantic's existing |oca
exchange custoners who tel ephone Bell Atlantic to request an
additional line, without inform ng those customers that they have
a choice of long distance carriers and offering to read a list of
such carriers, violates section 272 of the Act.12 1In its second
claim AT&T asserts that Bell Atlantic's use of its custoners'
PIC information to narket BACI's services during calls from such
custoners violates the anti-discrimnation requirenments of
section 272(c), 13 because Bell Atlantic does not nmke that
i nformati on available to other carriers. 14



M. DI SCUSSI ON

6. As di scussed bel ow, we deny both of AT&T's clainms. W
deny AT&T's first claimbecause Bell Atlantic is not required
under current law to informits existing custonmers tel ephoning to

request an additional line that they have a choice of |ong
di stance carriers, or to offer to read a |ist of such carriers.
That obligation applies only to inbound (i.e., incoming) calls

fromcustoners receiving new service. W deny AT&T's second

cl ai m because section 272(c) does not require that, when BOCs use
informati on regarding their custonmer's PICto joint market their

I ong distance affiliate's services to the custoner, the BOCs nust
make that information available to other carriers.

A.  Section 272 of the Act Does Not Require Bell Atlantic to
Informlts Existing Local Exchange Custoners Who Request

Addi tional Lines That They Have a Choice of Long Distance
Carriers or to Offer to Read a List of Such Carriers.

7. Under section 272(a) and (b) of the Act, a BOC that has
obt ai ned aut hori zati on pursuant to section 271 to provide
i nt erexchange services nmay do so only through a separate

affiliate.15 Mdreover, "~"[i]n its dealings with its [section

272] affiliate ..., a [BOC] ... nmay not discrimnate between that

conpany or affiliate and any other entity in the provision ... of
services ..."'"'.16 According to section 272(g)(3), however

““the joint marketing and sale of services permitted under this
subsection shall not be considered to violate the
nondi scri m nati on provisions of subsection (c).''17 The joint
mar keting " permitted under this subsection'' occurs when a BOC
““market[s] or sell[s] interLATA [i.e., interexchange] service
provi ded by an affiliate'' after the BOC obtains authorization to
provi de such service under section 271.18 |In rejecting AT&T' s
challenge to the FCC s grant of section 271 authority to Bel
Atlantic in New York, the United States Court of Appeals for the
District of Colunmbia Circuit recently held that section 272(g)
“Texenpt[s] joint marketing activities fromsection 272(c)(1)'s
nondi scri m nation requirenment."'"'19

8. AT&T' s conpl aint focuses on the scope of the exenption
created by section 272(g). In its first claim AT&T asserts that
the only joint marketing permtted under section 272(g), when
read in conjunction with the anti-discrimnation provision of
section 272(c), is joint marketing that conports with the equa

access obligations of section 251(g). AT&T states, "~ Section
272(g)(3) creates a narrow safe harbor for a quite specific
subset of discrimnatory marketing ... . The only discriminatory

mar keting activities that Congress exenpted fromthe
nondi scri m nati on obligations [of section 272(c)] are those that
are expressly “permtted by section 272(g) ... . [T]he only
joint marketing activities that are permitted under section
272(g) are those in which the BOC conplies with the |ongstanding
[section 251(g)] equal access requirenents of, inter alia

i nform ng custoners that they have a choice of |ong distance
carrier..."''.20

9. For purposes of this order, we will assune, w thout
deciding, that the only joint nmarketing permtted under section
272 is joint marketing that conports with section 251(g). W
decline AT&T's invitation to adopt its theory of the obligations
i nposed by sections 272 and 251(g). Nonethel ess, even under
AT&T's interpretation of the interplay of those two sections,



Bell Atlantic's conduct is perm ssible. Neverthel ess, AT&T' s
claimfails, because AT&T nmi sunderstands the obligations inposed
by section 251(g). That section, which is part of the

Tel ecomruni cati ons Act of 1996 (1996 Act), binds BOCs to the
““sanme equal access ... obligations'' existing " under any court
order, consent decree, or regulation, policy or order of the
Commi ssion'' on the date inmediately preceding the date of
enactnent of the 1996 Act until ~“explicitly superseded' ' by the
Conmi ssion. 21 Thus, in order to succeed on its claim AT&T nust
cite either, (a) a pre-1996 Act court order, consent decree, or
Conmmi ssion order requiring the BOCs to inform existing custoners
maki ng i nbound calls to request an additional line of their |ong
di stance choices, or (b) a Commi ssion order issued after passage
of the 1996 Act inposing such an obligation. As discussed bel ow,
AT&T cites no such precedent, and we are aware of none.
Accordingly, section 251(g) can inpose no such obligation.

10. Neverthel ess, AT&T argues that section 251(g) obligates
BOCs to i nformcustonmers of their |ong distance choices with

respect to all inbound calls in which a service is provided to a
custoner that has not yet designated a |ong distance carrier
i ncludi ng custoner calls requesting additional |ines.22 AT&T

cites a 1983 decision of the United States District Court for the
District of Colunbia (G eene, J.) (Decree Court) resolving
certain disputes arising fromthe fact that it was beconi ng
possi bl e to place an interexchange call through an interexchange
carrier (I1XC) other than AT&T nerely by dialing " "1+ ' or a four-
digit access code.23 The Decree Court was asked to clarify the
BOCs' obligations where, as this "~“dialing parity'' was achieved,
custoners attenpted to place interexchange calls w thout having
designated an | XC either by presubscription or use of an access
code. The court held that the BOCs were authorized
automatically to route such calls placed by their existing
custoners to AT&T. The court required, however, that for ninety
days before and after dialing parity was achi eved, the BOCs

advi se these custoners of their long distance choices "~ "at a

m ni mum by way of inserts in the nonthly bills.''24
Significantly, the court inposed no obligation upon the BOCs to

i nform existing custoners of their |long distance choices after
expiration of the ninety-day period. The only such obligation

i nposed by the court was as to "~ a custoner who receives new
service,'' which the court defined as ~ " (1) receiv[ing] service
fromthe particular BOC for the first time, or (2) nov[ing] to
anot her location within the [BOC s] area.''25

11. Thus, the Decree Court decision does not aid AT&T.
Contrary to AT&T's assertion, the decision stands for the
proposition that section 251(g) does not require BOCs to inform
custoners of their long distance choices with respect to al
i nbound cal l s invol ving undesi gnated | ong di stance traffic, and,
nost significantly, does not require BOCs to so inform customers
who call to request an additional line. Section 251(g) inports
obligations existing ~“on the date inmediately preceding the date
of enactnment of the [1996 Act].''26 The Decree Court inposed
only a short-lived obligation to informexisting custoners of
their long distance choices, and that obligation had expired |ong
before the 1996 Act. The only obligation to informcallers of
their long distance choices in 1996 was as to custonmers who
receive " “new service.'' Yet the Bell Atlantic custoners at issue
here are not custoners receiving ~“~new service.'' They are
exi sting custoners, and consequently are neither receiving
service fromBell Atlantic for the first tinme nor seeking service
as the result of a nove.



12. AT&T argues that the Comr ssion's 1985 Allocation Order
““inposed even nore stringent requirenments regarding a BOC s
handl i ng of undesignated | ong distance traffic [than the Decree
Court's decisions].'"'27 1In the Allocation Order, the Comn ssion
hel d that BOCs should not continue to route to AT&T undesi ghat ed
I ong distance calls made by existing custoners, and ordered the
BOCs, within six nonths of the effective date of the order, to
ball ot their existing custonmers as to their choice of |ong
di stance carrier. Like the Decree Court, however, the Conmi ssion
i mposed no continuing obligation to informthese custoners of
their long distance choices: Custoners who did not respond to
the ballots were to be allocated to a |ong distance carrier
according to a prescribed formula. Wth respect to " new
custoners'' only, BOCs were to respond to calls requesting
service by ““provid[ing] ... the nanes and, if requested, the
t el ephone nunbers of the |long distance carriers and shoul d devi se
procedures to ensure that the nanes of these carriers are
provi ded in randomorder.''28 Thus, the Allocation O der does
not help AT&T. Like the Decree Court, the Commi ssion inposed no
obligation pertaining in 1996 to i nform existing custoners of
their |long distance choices.

13. AT&T asserts that the Decree Court also applied the
obligation to informcallers of their |ong distance choices to
custoners maki ng undesi ghated | ong di stance calls using BOC
calling cards, BOC payphones, and BOC wi rel ess services. AT&T
states, "~ these cases confirmthat the Decree Court ... ha[s]
al ways recogni zed that the BOCs' obligations apply broadly to al
situations in which the custoner nust “designate' a |ong distance
carrier ..."''.29 AT&T's argunment mnisses the point. Section
251(g) inports obligations as they existed the day before
enact ment of the 1996 Act. Therefore, the sole issue here is
whet her, in 1996, BOCs were obligated to i nform existing
custoners requesting additional |ines of their |ong distance
choi ces; the BOCs' obligations with respect to callers using
cal ling cards, payphones or wirel ess services are sinmply not
rel evant. Moreover, AT&T mi sunderstands the Decree Court's
deci sions. Undesignated |ong distance calls sinply were not at
issue with respect to BOC calling cards.30 The Decree Court
obligated the BOCs to notify payphone prem ses owners, on a one-
time basis, by January 1989, of their |long distance choices.
This obligation was not, therefore, inported into the 1996 Act by
section 251(g). The Decree Court's ruling with respect to
Wi reless services is irrelevant, as section 251(g) applies only
to wireline services.

14. AT&T's reliance upon Comr ssion orders rel eased after
passage of the 1996 Act is equally msplaced. AT&T argues that,
in the Non-Accounting Safeguards Order, the Conm ssion concl uded
that BOCs nust informinbound callers requesting additional Iines
of their long distance choices before joint marketing the
services of their long distance affiliate.31 Yet that order
limts the BOCs' obligation to informcallers of their |ong
di stance choices to a " “custonmer who orders new | ocal exchange
service,'' and expressly adopts the Decree Court's definition of
““new service'' as limted to (1) receiv[ing] service fromthe
particular BOC for the first time, or (2) nov[ing] to another
| ocation within the [BOC s] area.''32 The Bell Sout h-South
Carolina Order, also cited by AT&T, refers to the Non-Accounting
Saf eguards Order with approval, notes that the order linits the
obligation to informcustoners of their |ong distance choices to
customers who receive " new service'' and states that " "a



custoner orders “new service' when the custoner either receives
service fromthe BOC for the first tine, or noves to another
| ocation within the BOC s in-region territory."''33

15. Thus, AT&T's first claimfails. Bell Atlantic is not
obl i gated, when marketing BAClI's services, to inform existing
custoners calling to request an additional |ine that they have a
choi ce of long distance carriers and to offer to read a list of
avail able carriers. That obligation applies only to custoners
who either (1) receive service fromBell Atlantic for the first
time, or (2) nove to another location within Bell Atlantic's
ar ea.

B. Section 272 Does Not Prohibit Bell Atlantic From Using CPN
to Market BACI's Services Wthout Providing That CPNl To O her
Carriers.

16. In its second claim AT&T asserts that Bell Atlantic is
in violation of section 272(c) of the Act because it uses
informati on regarding the identity of its custonmer's PICto
mar ket BACI's services w thout meking that information avail able
to AT&T and other interested carriers. AT&T' s second claimalso
nmust be denied, for Bell Atlantic has not violated section
272(c). The information at issue here is custoner proprietary
network information (CPNI) within the neaning of section 222,34
and, as the Commi ssion held in the CPNl Order, section 272(c)'s
reference to "~ “information'' does not include CPNI.35

17. AT&T argues that we are precluded from hol di ng that
section 272(c) "~ “information'' does not include CPNI based on the
CPNI Order because that order was vacated by the Tenth Circuit in
U.S. West, Inc. v. FCC. 36 W disagree. \When read in context,
the court's vacatur order related only to the discrete portions
of the order and rules that were before the court in |ight of the
parties' petitions for review and addressed by the court. The
parties' petitions for review did not include, and the Tenth
Circuit therefore neither had before it, nor addressed in its
decision, the CPNI Order's discussion of section 272(c). 37 Had
the court intended to take the unusual step of vacating portions
of the order and rules not before it, we believe it would have
said so explicitly. Accordingly, we find that the court did not
vacate the portion of the CPNI Order concluding that CPN does
not constitute " “information'' under section 271(c).

18. AT&T argues that, even if the CPNI Order was not
vacated in its entirety, the Conm ssion's interpretation of
section 272(c) set forth in the CPNI Order is no |onger valid.
AT&T notes that the Tenth Circuit rejected the Commission's
assertion that its construction of ~“approval'' as used in
section 222 did not violate the First Amendnent because one of
the "~ “substantial state interests'' recognized by Congress in
enacting section 222 is the pronotion of conpetition in the
t el ecomruni cations industry.38 AT&T argues that, in so hol ding,
the Tenth Circuit effectively destroyed "~ "the entire rationale'
for the CPNl Order's construction of section 272(c).39 Yet the
court did not hold that section 222 is wholly devoid of
conpetitive concerns; it held only that those concerns were not a
““significant consideration'' for First Anendnent anal ysis. 40
Mor eover, even assuning that the Tenth Circuit's anal ysis applies
to the i ssue of exchange of CPN between conpetitors, the
Commi ssion's construction of section 222 as expressing pro-



conpetitive concerns was only one of several reasons why the
Commi ssi on construed section 272(c)'s reference to
““information'' not to include CPNI. The Conmi ssion al so so
concluded in order to ~“further the principles of custoner
conveni ence and control,'' and protect " customer's privacy
interests.''41 Moreover, the Comm ssion was concerned that a
readi ng of section 272 such as that advocated by AT&T here woul d
|l ead BOCs to " “sinply choose not to disclose their |ocal service
CPNI,"" which “~“would not serve the various custoner interests
envi si oned under section 222.''42 These reasons are independent
of the Conmi ssion's view that one of Congress's purposes in
enacting section 222 was to pronote conpetition, and AT&T has not
guestioned any of these rationales.

19. Accordingly, because we conclude that section 272(c)'s
reference to " “information'' does not include CPNI, we deny
AT&T's second claim Bell Atlantic is not obligated by section
272(c) to provide its custonmers' CPNl to AT&T or any other
carrier.

V. ORDERI NG CLAUSE

20. Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED, pursuant to sections 4(i),
4(j), 208, 271, and 272 of the Commrunications Act of 1934, as
amended, 47 U.S.C. 88 154(i), 154(j), 208, 271 and 272, that the
formal conplaint filed by AT&T Corp. against New York Tel ephone
Conpany, d/b/a Bell Atlantic - New York, IS DENIED W TH PREJUDI CE
and this proceeding IS TERM NATED

FEDERAL COVMUNI CATI ONS
COW SSI ON

Magal i e Roman
Sal as
Secretary

1 47 U.S.C. 88 208, 271(d)(6).

2 47 U.S.C. § 272.

3 47 U.S.C. § 153(4).

4 47 U.S.C. § 251(h)(1).

5 See In the Matter of Application by Bell Atlantic New York for
Aut hori zation under Section 271 of the Comunications Act to
Provi de I n-Region, InterLATA Service in the State of New York,

15 FCC Rcd 3953 (1999), aff'd sub nom AT&T Corp. v. FCC, 220
F.3d 607 (D.C. Cir. 2000).

6 The Act at section 272(g)(2) provides, ~~A[BOC] my not
mar ket or sell interLATA [i.e., interexchange] service provided
by an affiliate required by this section within any of its in-
region States until such conpany is authorized to provide

i nt er LATA services in such State under section 271(d).'



7 Joint Statenment at T 3.

8 Bell Atlantic states that, although it has ~“no blanket
requirenent'' that its sales representatives inform existing
custoners requesting an additional Iline of their long distance
choices and offer to read a Ilist of «carriers, its sales
representatives are instructed to provide this information to
certain customers " for reasons of administrative convenience.'
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ot her statutory requirenments).

12 Formal Conplaint of AT&T Corp., File No. EB-00-MD-011 (filed
July 10, 2000) (Conplaint) at 91 30-32, 34, 36.
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its dealings with its [section 272] affiliate, ... a [BQOC

may not discrimnate between that conpany or affiliate and any
other entity in the provision or procurenment of ... services,

facilities, and information ..

14 Conpl aint at 19 33-36.

15 47 U.S.C. § 272(a), (b).

16 47 U.S.C. § 272(c).

17 47 U.S.C. § 272(9)(3).

18 47 U.S.C. § 272(9)(2).

19 AT&T Corp. v. FCC, 220 F.3d 607, 632 (D.C. Cir. 2000).

20 Opposition of AT&T Corp. to Bell Atlantic's Mdtion to Dismss
Conplaint, File No. E-00-MD-011 (filed July 31, 2000) at 7.

21 Section 251(g) provides, in pertinent part, ~"On and after
the date of enactnent of the [1996 Act], each |Iocal exchange
carrier, to the extent that it provides wireline services, shal

provi de exchange access, information access, and exchange
services for such access to interexchange carriers ... in
accordance with the same equal access and non-discrimnatory
i nterconnection restrictions and obligations ... that apply to

such carrier on the date immediately preceding the date of
enactnent of the [1996 Act] under any court order, consent
decree, or regulation, order or policy of the Comm ssion, unti
such restrictions and obligations are explicitly superseded by
regul ati ons prescribed by the Conmission after such date of
enactnent.'' 47 U.S.C. § 251(g).

22 Brief of AT&T Corp. on Bell Atlantic's Liability for Joint



Mar keting Violations, File No. EB-00-MD>-011 (filed Aug. 14,
2000) (AT&T Br.) at 8, 15.

23AT&T Br. at 16 (citing United States v. AT&T Corp., 578 F
Supp. 668 (D.D.C. 1983)). Prior to the achievenent of dialing
parity, custoners could place interexchange calls through | XCs
other than AT&T only by dialing a twelve or thirteen-digit
access code. See United States v. AT&T Corp., 578 F. Supp. at
670 (D.D.C. 1983)

24 United States v. AT&T Corp., 578 F. Supp. at 676.

25 1d. at 677. The court ruled, “~"no [BOC] shal
automatically ... assign to AT&T the calls of a custonmer who
recei ves new service but fails to designate an [IXC] ... . The
[BOC] may instead ... assist [the caller] in locating [an |X({,
provided that no favoritism is shown to any parti cul ar
carrier.'' 1d.

26 47 U.S.C. § 251(g).

27 AT&T Br. at 16 (citing Investigation of Access and
Di vestiture Related Tariffs, Memobrandum Opinion and Order, 101
FCC2d 911lat 19 33-35 (1985) (Allocation Oder)).

28 In the Matter of Investigation of Access and Divestiture
Rel ated Tariffs, Allocation Plan Wavers and Tariffs, Menorandum
Opinion and Order, 101 FCC2d 935, 949 T 40 (FCC 1985)
(construing the Allocation Order).

29 AT&T Reply Br. at 16 (citing United States v. AT&T Corp., 698
F. Supp. 348 (D.D.C. 1988) (calling cards and payphones), and
United States v. AT&T Corp., 890 F. Supp. 1 (D.D.C  1995)
(wireless calls)).

30 Because the Decree Court found that the BOCs had, in
violation of their equal access obligations, routed all <calling
card calls not preceded by "0 +' ' to AT&T, and inplied in their
advertisenents that the holders' long distance <calls would be
carried by the BOC who issued the card, it ordered the BOC's to
noti fy cardhol ders, on a one-time basis, by January 1989, that
Il ong distance calls placed using the calling card mght be
carried by a carrier other than the holder's PIC, and that they
shoul d contact I|ong distance carriers regarding alternative
nmet hods of charging long distance calls. See United States v.
AT&T Corp., 698 F. Supp. at 356 - 7.

31 AT&T Br. at 14 (citing In the Matter of Inplenentation of the
Non- Accounting Safeguards of Sections 271 and 272 of the
Communi cations Act of 1934, as anended, First Report and Order,
11 FCC Rcd 21905, 22207 9§ 292 (FCC 1996) (Non-Accounting
Saf eguards Order)).

32Non- Accounti ng Saf eguards Order at T 292, n. 761(citing United
States v. AT&T Corp., 578 F. Supp. at 676-7).

33ln the Matter of Application of BellSouth Corp. et al

Pursuant to Section 271 of the Conmunications Act of 1934, as
anended, To Provide In-Region, InterLATA Services in South
Carol i na, Mermorandum Opi nion and Order, 13 FCC Rcd 539 at n. 675
(1997) , aff'd sub nom Bell South Corp. v. FCC, 162 F.3d 678
(D.C. Cir. 1998) (Bell South-South Carolina Oder). Accord, In
the Matter of the Application of BellSouth Corp. et al. For



Provi sion of |n-Region, Inter LATA Services in Loui si ana,
Menmor andum Opi ni on and Order, 13 FCC Rcd 20599 ¢ 357 (1998).
AT&T argues that in AT&T Corp. v. Aneritech Corp., 13 FCC Rcd
21438 (FCC 1998), the Conmi ssion " observ[ed] that proposed BCC
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Corp. v. Ameritech Corp., 13 FCC Rcd at Y 58-63). But the
““concerns'' expressed by the Conmission in the Aneritech Corp
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272(d) (3) approval.

34 See |Inplenmentation of the Tel ecomrunications Act of 1996:
Tel ecomruni cations Carriers' Use of Cust oner Proprietary
I nf or mati on and O her Cust omer I nf or mati on, Or der on
Reconsi deration and Petitions for Forbearance, 14 FCC Rcd 14, 409
at T 148 (1999). The parties stipulated that the PIC
information at issue was CPNI. See Joint Statenment for Initia

Status Conference, File No. E-00-MD-011 (filed July 31, 2000) at
3976. See alsoid. at 5 9 7. The question of the use for
mar ket i ng purposes of carrier proprietary information within the
nmeani ng of section 222(b) has not been pleaded and therefore is
not addressed here.

35 See Inplenmentation of the Tel ecomrunications Act of 1996:
Tel ecomruni cations Carriers' Use of Cust oner Proprietary
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